IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI 2007-CA-00672-COA

MARK S. ALLEN

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF ADAMS COUNTY

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

Cynthia A. Stewart, P.A. (2088 Main Street, Suite A Madison, MS 39110 (601) 856-0515 T (601) 856-0514 F

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI 2007-CA-00672-COA

MARK S. ALLEN

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. JURISDICTION AND THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IS INAPPLICABLE DUE TO THE LACK OF MENTAL COMPETENCE ON THE PART OF MARK ALLEN
- II. MARK ALLEN WAS NOT COMPETENT TO ENTER A PLEA OF GUILTY OR STAND TRIAL; CONSEQUENTLY ENTRY OF HIS PLEA VIOLATED DUE PROCESS GUARANTEED UNDER THE MISSISSIPPI AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS.
- III. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN PURSUING ALLEN'S LACK OF COMPETENCE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

History of the Case

On or about November 23, 1999, Mark S. Allen was indicted for the willful, unlawful, felonious and with malice of for thought killing and murder of one James P. Allen, Sr. A copy of the indictment is attached as A.R.E. 2. On or about February 9, 2001, Mark S. Allen (hereinafter referred to as "Allen") pled guilty to manslaughter at the sentencing hearing held in the Circuit Court of Adams County, Mississippi of the murder of his father, James P. Allen, Sr. At the time of the crime, Allen was 45 years old and suffered from a lengthy history of mental illness. Allen entered a guilty plea to manslaughter and was sentenced to serve twenty (20) years in prison. A copy of the sentencing order is attached hereto as A.R.E. 4.

This motion represents Allen's first request for post-conviction relief. It was filed in the Court below on or about January 9, 2007 and denied on or about April 10, 2007 (A.R.E. 6). Allen timely appealed. (A.R.E. 7).

Facts of the Case

On or about September 16, 1999, Allen was reported missing by his father, James P. Allen, Sr. who indicated to law enforcement authorities that Allen had not been taking his medication. On September 20, 1999, James P. Allen Sr. and his wife were dining out at South China Sea Restaurant. An acquaintance of the Allen's, David Blackburn, drove by their home on his way to the same restaurant. After seeing the Allen's at the restaurant, Mr. Blackburn made a comment that he had noticed that they were having some work done to their home because he had witnessed an individual in their front yard. Mr. Allen indicated to Mr. Blackburn that there was no work being doing and left the restaurant to go check on his house. Mrs. Allen remained at the restaurant. After Mr. Allen did not return, someone gave Mrs. Allen a ride to their home where she noticed her son's truck as well as her husband's vehicle. Once she arrived at the

home, Mrs. Allen telephoned 911. Law enforcement responded to the home and entered the home through the back door, which was not locked, but had a table pushed up against it. Upon entry into the home, the authorities looked around and noticed blood going down the stairs into the basement. Additional law enforcement authorities were called. Mrs. Allen told the authorities that it might be her son that was in the home. After attempting to get Allen out of the home with a megaphone and calls to the residence failed after an eight (8) hour stand off, tear gas was shot into the home at which time Allen emerged and was arrested for the homicide of his father. Although no autopsy was performed, it was determined by the coroner as well as Dr. Hancock, the pathologist, that the cause of death was a gunshot wound to the head. Upon information and belief, no gunshot residue was found on Mark Allen's hands.

At the guilty plea proceedings, Allen's mother, Irene Myers Allen asked to speak to the Court. A copy of the transcript at the guilty plea and sentencing proceedings is attached hereto as A.R.E. 8. Mrs. Allen stated to the Court that it was her belief at that time and would remain her belief until her death, that Mark did not know what he was doing. She stated that Mark was under the care of a psychiatrist that did not keep his appointments with Mark. In addition, she stated that she was aware that Mark had been on medication and that she was not certain if Mark was taking his medication or not, but it was her belief that Mark never would have committed the crime if he knew what he was doing. Mrs. Allen also made reference to a letter that she signed on October 20, 1999, which was presented and directed by the Court to be made exhibits. Mrs. Allen stated that she was coerced into signing the letter by a cousin who harassed her at the funeral of her husband. She regretted that she signed the letter, stated that she did not read the letter entirely and that she would never sign it again. Mrs. Allen confirmed her belief that Mark, had he been in his right mind, would never have killed his father.

In addition to Mrs. Allen's testimony, counsel for the defendant had spoken personally with many, many people that knew Mark for many years and were willing to testify the Mark they know would never have done this crime. That he was attentive to his parents. He was attentive to his grandmother and grandfather.

Mark S. Allen had a lengthy history of mental illness. His medical records have been reviewed by Dr. Stanley Russell and Dr. William Owen. Their affidavits are attached hereto as A.R.E. 9 and A.R.E. 10 along with the medical records, which are attached hereto AS A.R.E. 11. Dr. Russell's affidavit states as follows:

My name is Stanley C. Russell, M.D.

I live in Jackson, Mississippi.

I was asked to review the medical records of Mark Allen that had been provided me and my report done on October 12, 2002 is as follows.

Mark Allen is currently service a 20 year sentence for manslaughter in the Mississippi Department of Corrections. He is being housed at the East Mississippi Correctional Facility near Meridian, Mississippi. This is on of the private prisons within the Department of Corrections that has contracts to house inmates that have been sentenced to the Department of Corrections and suffer from a psychiatric disorder.

I have specifically reviewed the following records: Mississippi State Hospital records from his three admissions to that facility. He was first committed there in 1989. He was later committed to the Mississippi State Hospital in 1994 and finally he had a court ordered evaluation concerning his competency to stand trial and to address the issue of his legal responsibility for the crime that he was alleged to have committed. This admission was from February 14, 2000 until April 21, 2000.

Other records included an admission to the Veteran's Administration Hospital in Jackson, Mississippi in 1994. In addition, there were records from the VA Hospital in San Diego, California and this was also from 1994.

Finally, I reviewed some information provided by Ms. Robin Thomas. This included some material that had been supplied to her from the East Mississippi Correctional Facility, as well as, a summary of treatment provided by Dr. Maude Wright, who had been Mr. Allen's treating psychiatrist from 1994 until 1999.

Mr. Allen was apparently born on March 11, 1955 in Natchez, Mississippi. He completed high school in 1972. Shortly thereafter, he joined the Navy and remained in the Navy from 1972 until 1975. After being discharged from the Navy, Mr. Allen returned to California where he was later married and became the father of a daughter.

The records show that Mr. Allen was experiencing some mental problems as early as 1981 and that following his divorce from his first wife he became clinically depressed and was apparently treated at Minrith-Mier Clinic in Texas. This was a Christian based program. He apparently was started on some psychotropic medications which he soon discontinued as he did not think that he needed the medication. There is also some reference to his having seen a psychiatrist at tone time in Michigan, but there is no clear history of the difficulty that he was experiencing at that time or exactly when this occurred.

In June 1989, Mr. Allen was committed to the Mississippi State Hospital on commitment from Claiborne County, Mississippi. It was reported that even though he was a native Mississippian, he was actually living in Hawaii at this time. He apparently lived there with his second wife. The circumstances surrounding his commitment were unclear. He was reported to have had a knife and it is also reported that there were people that were afraid of him. He apparently had stated that he was going to kill someone. He is alleged to have wandered in the woods for a couple of days. He was observed engaging in some sort of strange behavior involving a clump of dirt. He was reported to be violent and had tried to get out of the window of a moving car. He was discharged from that period of hospitalization with a diagnosis of schizophreniform disorder. It was recommended that he continue treatment following his discharge. There is no record of his having received that treatment.

In April 1994, Mr. Allen was committed to the Jackson, Mississippi VA Hospital with a history of making threats to his family, walking in the street wearing only a towel, and disturbing the peace. He remained in the Jackson VA Hospital from April 21, 1994 until May 26, 1994. A diagnosis of bipolar disorder was made and he was subsequently discharged from the Jackson VA Hospital to continue his treatment at the Mississippi State Hospital at Whitfield, Mississippi.

His second admission to the Mississippi State Hospital was on May 26, 1994. He came there from the Jackson VA where he had been committed on April 21, 1994 and then discharged to the Mississippi State Hospital on May 26, 1994. During this stay at the Mississippi State Hospital, they discussed his diagnosis as being either bipolar disorder or schizoaffective disorder bipolar type. He was discharged with a diagnosis of bipolar II disorder with recommendations that he continue to receive treatment through his local mental health center.

Subsequently, Mr. Allen returned to California and presented himself to the VA Hospital in San Diego. This was in September 1994. At that time, he was seeking admission to the hospital to determine if he truly had a major mental illness such as bipolar disorder. He was admitted there on September 19, 1994, and he was discharged on November 10, 1994. The following quote is found in his discharge summary from that hospital, "overwhelming evidence suggested that the patient does indeed have bipolar affective disorder type I with history of manic episodes and psychotic breaks." The patient unfortunately, has little or no recollection of these episodes, which has made it very difficult for him to accept the "bipolar diagnosis." It was also stated that it was essential for him to maintain regular psychiatric follow-up and long-term medication compliance. There was a noted dated February 27, 1995, which stated that Mr. Allen had called the hospital and reported that he was leaving to return to Mississippi.

In the San Diego VA records there is a reference to a 1991 admission to the VA Hospital in Houston, Texas. Apparently, the San Diego VA had obtained a copy of that record as they said that he had been diagnosed as having an atypical psychosis and was discharged on Navane. Mr. Allen stated the he stopped taking that medication almost immediately as he felt he did not need it.

There was a treatment summary dated November 10, 1999, from Dr. Maude Wright. She stated that Mr. Allen had been treated by her at Southwest Mental Health Center in Natchez and that she had seen him at the mental health center from 1994 until 1997. I do not know when in 1994 she saw him unless it was between the time of his discharge from the Mississippi State Hospital in July and his admission to the San Diego VA Hospital on September 19, 1994. After 1997, she stated that he started driving to her office in Jackson, Mississippi to see her. She alleges that she saw him on at least three occasions in 1997 and 1998 and the last time that she saw him was in August 1999. She reported that she spend three hours with him at the last visit. She went on to say that he talked about having a disagreement with his father and that he planned to stay with his grandparents for a period o time. After that meeting, she reports that Mr. Allen's brother called her to report that Mr. Allen was having problems. She said that she was unable to contact Mr. Allen by phone. A few days later, she received a call

informing her that he had allegedly murdered his father and was in the Adams County Jail.

Following his arrest in September 1999, Mr. Allen's attorney requested a forensic evaluation be ordered to address the question of Mr. Allen's competency to stand trial and whether or not he could be held legally responsible for his action at the time of the alleged crime. This requested evaluation was scheduled at the Mississippi State Hospital in February 14, 2000.

The records from Mississippi State Hospital included and were labeled as an admission note. This was dated February 14, 2002. After a rather long note, a decision was made to admit Mr. Allen to the hospital, "to clarify our opinions concerning his competency to stand trial and his mental status at the time of the alleged crime." Mr. Allen remained in the hospital from February 2000, until he was discharged on April 21, 2000. Other parts of his records include a discharge summary dictated on April 20, 2000. It is noted in this summary that on February 21, 2000, Mr. Allen was placed in ambulatory security wrists and ankle restraints. This was done after he was observed to be jumping up and down on a metal picnic table. The next day, February 22, 2000, Mr. Allen was placed in five point restraints after he had thrown water on a staff member. He apparently physically resisted being put in restraints. After that, Mr. Allen continued to complain of back and left rib pain. On April 19, 2000, a chest x-ray was ordered and apparently Mr. Allen was found to show rib fractures of the seventh and eighth ribs on the left. It was stated that these appeared acute and that they were not old fractures. At the time of his discharge, Dr. McMichael provided a prescription for Ultram for the pain associated with these injured ribs.

There is a staffing summary dated April 20, 2000. This was the day before that he was actually discharged back to the jail in Adams County. In this summary, they expressed the unanimous opinion that Mr. Allen was competent to stand trial and that he knew the nature and quality of his alleged acts at the time of the alleged events. He would have known that these alleged acts were wrong.

DISCUSSION: A review of these records reveals that Mr. Allen is an individual who has been suffering with a mental disorder from as early as 1981. He reported problems with depression at that time. He was later hospitalized at a private hospital in Texas in 1985 for inpatient treatment of his condition. His condition continued to deteriorate and in 1989 he was committed to the Mississippi State Hospital in a psychotic state. At that time, he was diagnosed as having a schizophreniform disorder and advised to continue on treatment. He did not follow that advice. He was later (1991 or 1992) admitted to the VA Hospital in Houston,

Texas, where he was diagnosed as having a atypical psychosis and discharged on Navane and antipsychotic medication. Mr. Allen stated that he promptly discontinued that medication because he did not feel that he needed it. There followed a series of hospitalization in 1994. He was committed to the Jackson VA Hospital and then transferred to the Mississippi State Hospital at Whitfield. Again, he was described as being very psychotic and was diagnosed as having a bipolar disorder. When he was discharged from the Mississippi State Hospital in July, 1994, he was again told to continue treatment through his local mental health center. He was told how important it was for him to take his prescribed medication. In September of 1994, he was admitted to the San Diego VA Hospital at his request to try to get a second opinion concerning his diagnosis of bipolar disorder. The record for that hospitalization is very important as they point out that Mr. Allen had a history of several very florid manic episodes and psychotic breaks for which he had little or no recollection. This statement is very important because in my professional opinion, the records clearly show that Mr. Allen received less than ideal treatment from the time of his discharge from the San Diego VA Hospital until the time in September 1999, when he was arrested and charged with the murder of his father. Furthermore, there is a very strong likelihood that he was not complaint with his prescribed medication and that he had once again become very manic and psychotic. The fact that he was evaluated at the Mississippi State Hospital between February 14, 2000 and April 21, 2000, after he had been incarcerated for several months and had been receiving his prescribed medications does not, in my professional opinion, reflect his mental state on the night of September 20, 1999, when he is alleged to have murdered his Following the forensic evaluation at Mississippi State Hospital for which he as given the maximum sentence of 20 years. While acknowledging that Mr. Allen had a serious mental disorder. the judge in his order directed the Mississippi Department of Corrections to provide Mr. Allen with appropriate treatment of his mental condition. It is interesting to note, that once he arrived at Central Mississippi Correctional Facility to undergo classification, someone there decided that Mr. Allen did not have a mental illness and did not need the prescribed medications. His medications were stopped and he was sent to the Correctional Facility in Greene County, Mississippi. This facility has no psychiatrist on staff and no known psychiatric patients should have been sent to that facility. Mr. Allen subsequently decompensated and had to be hospitalized at the Hospital at Parchman, Mississippi. There, he was restarted on psychotropic medications. Subsequently, Mr. Allen was placed at the East Mississippi Correctional Facility near Meridian, Mississippi. This is a private prison that is under contract with the Mississippi Department of Corrections to provide treatment for inmates with psychiatric disorders. A summary of his treatment at this facility indicates that he has continued to experience difficulty with the management of his mental disorder. This review clearly shows that Mr. Allen has been very poorly served by the mental health system here in Mississippi. Very little supervision was provided to ensure that he is seen on frequent and regular basis and that appropriate blood levels be done to ensure that he was taking his Lithium and that it was in the therapeutic range. This failure contributed to his becoming, in my opinion, noncompliant with his medications and developed a florid manic episode that contributed to the disaster that occurred on September 20, 1999.

At this time, it is not clear as to what remedy would be best. If Mr. Allen were allowed to withdraw his guilty plea, he could still face trial for murder and no one could predict the outcome of that preceding. If he remains incarcerated as he has been, there is little assurance, based on past performance, that he will receive the most appropriate psychiatric care. If he should receive some type of clemency from the governor, he would certainly need to be required to continue his psychiatric treatment with close monitoring of his clinical condition and of the blood levels of his prescribed medications.

Updated Report

Some time ago, I reviewed the medical records concerning Mark Steven Allen. Mr. Allen is currently at the Mississippi State Penitentiary at Parchman, Mississippi, where he is serving a 20 year sentence on a manslaughter charge. For details of that original review, I refer to the report that I did October 12, 2002. As a consequence of reviewing those records, it became clear that Mr. Allen was a person who had been experiencing psychiatric problems for many years. In the early 1980's, he had received treatment for what had been diagnosed as depression. Then in 1989, he was committed to the Mississippi State Hospital at Whitfield, Mississippi. He was committed there from Claiborne County, Mississippi. This circumstances that led to this commitment show that Mr. Allen was quite psychotic and that he had been observed to be engaging in rather bizarre behavior. It is interesting to note at that time, he had no memory for many of the things that he had been observed to be doing prior to that commitment. Following that commitment, he was discharged on antipsychotic medicines with a recommendation that he continue to receive treatment following his discharge. There is no record to show that he followed that recommendation. In 1994, he was gain committed for treatment. On this occasion, he was committed to the Veteran's Administration Hospital in Jackson, Mississippi.

Once again, he was found to be suffering from a psychotic illness and to have been engaging in rather bizarre behavior. During that admission, it was thought he was suffering from either bipolar disorder or schizoaffective disorder. The Veteran's Administration felt he needed continued treatment through his local mental health center. He was discharged on Depakote, Haldol, and Cogentin. He had his intake at the mental health center on July 11, 1994. He subsequently saw Dr. Maude Wright there on July 28, 1994. At that time, Dr. Wright decreased his Haldol. He returned to the mental health center on August 3, 1994. At that visit, Dr. Wright discontinued his Haldol and Cogentin leaving him on Depakote alone. Mr. Allen indicated at that time that he planned to go to the San Diego VA to seek confirmation of his diagnosis of bipolar disorder. He was admitted there on September 19, 1994. He remained there until he was discharged on November 10, 1994. In the discharge summary, a statement was made that the patient had little or no recollection of his prior manic episodes and psychotic breaks. I think this is an important observation in view of what happens to him later on. Mr. Allen remained in San Diego and was treated as an outpatient for a period of time, but then he left San Diego to return to Mississippi. While there, his Depakote had been discontinued and he was discharged from San Diego VA Hospital on Lithium 600 mg. twice a day and Prozac 60 mg. per dav.

After leaving San Diego, he returned to Mississippi and the next visit to his local mental health center in Mississippi is dated April 18, 1995. It reports that he was prescribed Lithium Carbonate to take 1200 mg. a day and Prozac 60 mg. a day. He was seen again one week later on April 25, 1995, and his Prozac was decreased. At that time, he was found to have a Lithium level of 0.8. This is in the therapeutic range and it had been reached while he was taking 1200 mg. of Lithium per day. He had several visits at the mental health center with Dr. Chawla. He did not keep his scheduled appointment at the mental health center in November, 1995. He was not seen again until May 17, 1996, by Dr. Khurana. In the report, he makes the statement that non-compliance could be a potential problem. At that time, he was changed from Lithium Carbonate to Eskalith CR 450 mg. twice a day. He was seen again on July 12, 1996. At that visit, his Eskalith was decreased to once a day. I could not find a Lithium level that was obtained at that time to understand why his Lithium was decreased. I am very puzzled by that decrease in his prescribed dosage of Lithium as it would be almost impossible to keep the Lithium level in the therapeutic range taking that small a dose. It was about this time that Mr. Allen began to see Dr. Wright in her office in Jackson. In spite of all attempts that have been made, we have not been able to get copies of Dr. Wright's office records concerning her care of

Mr. Allen. What we do have is a treatment summary dated November 10, 1999. This was apparently sent to the jail in Natchez, Mississippi. In the report, she stated that she had last seen Mr. Allen in August of 1999. She indicated that she had spent three hours with Mr. Allen at that time. She said in that report that he had not been taking his Lithium as his blood level was less than 0.3. I am not sure how she knew this at that time as a lithium level was done at the Natchez Community Hospital on August 4, 1999, and was reported on August 5, 1999. It is also of interest that a Lithium level reported January 9, 1998, was also recorded as less than 0.3. That would suggest that his Lithium had not been in the therapeutic range for over eighteen months. During that time, he was apparently only being prescribed Escalith CR 450 mg. once a day. Without Dr. Wright's office notes, it is impossible to know why adjustments were not being made in his Lithium dosage. On September 8, 2003, Dr. Wright sent a fax in which she stated that his original records are no longer available. This would appear to be in violation of the Mississippi State Medical Licensure Board's rules which state that all records should be retained for at least five years. If she last saw him in August, 1999, as she said, it has not yet been five years since that visit; therefore the records should be available.

As I indicated in my first report, it is my professional opinion based on my review of the available medical records that Mr. Allen suffers from a major mental disorder. He has had numerous hospitalizations and has received treatment, both on an inpatient and outpatient basis. As an outpatient, he had been treated at his local mental health center and he had also been treated at the office of Dr. Maude Wright. I feel that he has been poorly served by the mental health profession.

I disagree with the forensic evaluation that was done at the Mississippi State Hospital where he was found to be competent to stand trial and to be legally responsible for his behavior that is alleged to have occurred in September, 1999. This assessment was not done until February, 2000. He had been on his medication after he was placed in jail in September of 1999. He had clearly not been receiving his medication in adequate dosages prior to that, as he had two Lithium levels reported s less than 0.3. It is clear to me that Mr. Allen suffered an acute psychotic episode and just as he had done in the past, he had no memory for what had occurred. Following the findings of the forensic evaluation, Mr. Allen entered a plea to the charge of manslaughter. The Judge gave him the maximum sentence for that charge and indicated that he realized that Mr. Allen had a major psychiatric illness. He ordered that Mr. Allen should receive treatment by the Mississippi Department of Corrections. Once again, Mr. Allen has been the victim of the failure of the Department of Corrections to provide appropriate treatment of his diagnosed bipolar disorder. In view of my assessment, I support Mr. Allen's request for clemency. If he should be granted relief, I would agree to provide treatment for Mr. Allen on a regular basis and would monitor his medication compliance if he so desired.

Allen's first record of mental problems occurred as early as 1981 resulting in his treatment at Minrith-MRER Clinic in Texas. He was released from that clinic on psychotic medications, which he discontinued shortly after his release.

In June, 1989, Allen entered the Mississippi State Hospital at Whitfield, Mississippi pursuant to a commitment from Claiborne County, Mississippi. He was committed as a result of a psychotic break in which he was wandering in the woods and engaging in bizarre behavior. He was discharged from the hospital with a diagnosis of schizophrenia disorder.

The next record of hospitalization followed, again, a psychotic break, this time involving walking around in public in the nude. In April 1984, following this behavior, he was committed to the Veteran's Administration Hospital in Jackson, Mississippi. Mr. Allen left the Veteran's Administration Hospital to continue treatment at the Mississippi State Hospital at Whitfield, Mississippi. He was discharged with a diagnosis of bipolar disorder with the conditions that he continue treatment.

There are indications in some of the records that Mr. Allen was admitted to the Veteran's Administration Hospital in Houston, Texas in 1991 with an a-typical psychosis.

The next record of hospitalization occurred in September, 1994, when Mr. Allen was admitted to the Veteran's Administration Hospital in San Diego, California. He was found by "overwhelming evidence" to have bipolar effective disorder type one "with history of manic episodes and psychotic breaks." The records from the Veteran's Administration Hospital in San Diego reference the lifelong memory lapses suffered by Mr. Allen.

During the years preceding the criminal charge, Mr. Allen resided with his parents in Natchez, Mississippi. He was treated at Southwest Mental Health Center by Dr. Maude Wright. At the time of the offense, Mr. Allen was not taking adequate doses of Lithium. As Dr. Russell sets out in his affidavit, "Mr. Allen has been very poorly served by the mental health system here in Mississippi. Very little supervision was provided to ensure that he is seen on frequent and regular basis and that appropriate blood levels be done to ensure that he was taking his Lithium and that it was in the therapeutic range." Dr. Russell also noted that a Lithium level reported January 9, 1998 was [also] recorded as less than 0.3. In a treatment summary from Allen's treating psychiatrist, Dr. Maude Wright, Dr. Wright found that in August, 1999, Mark Allen had not been taking Lithium because his blood level was less than 0.3. As Dr. Russell finds, this had not been in the therapeutic range for over eighteen (18) months. The result of this would be a psychotic break. See affidavit of Dr. Russell.

Defense Counsel advised the prosecution under Rule 9.07 of the Uniform Circuit Court Rules that it was Mr. Allen's intent to offer a defense of insanity to said charge. A copy of correspondence from defense counsel, Donald G. Ogden, his attached hereto as A.R.E. 12.

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