MARK S. ALLEN

APPELLANT

FILED

VS.

NO. 2007-CA-0672-COA

JAN 3 1 2008

Ormole of The Clerk SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

I ABLE UI	FAUTHORITIES		•••••	ii
STATEME	ENT OF THE CASE	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	•••••••	1
STATEME	ENT OF THE FACTS		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	3
SUMMAR	Y OF THE ARGUMENT		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	4
ARGUME I. & J	NT		•••••••	5

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The grand jury of Adams County indicted defendant, Mark S. Allen for Murder in violation of *Miss. Code Ann.* § 97-3-19. (Indictment, cp.1). Counsel for defendant petitioned the court for a competency examination. Said was done by experts at Mississippi State Hospital and their report submitted to the Court. A hearing was held and defendant was found to be competent to stand trial. Subsequently, aided by counsel (two), defendant petitioned the Circuit to enter a plea of Guilty. (Petition c.p.118-123). In December 2000, a hearing was held defendant entered a plea of guilty to Manslaughter and the trial court sentenced defendant to Twenty (20) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections plus motion for post-conviction relief, supplements by hundreds of pages of exhibits. (Motion for Post-Conviction Relief starts at c.p. 155. The trial court denied the motion on April 10, 2007. (Order denying relief (c.p. 619-620).

It is from the denial of post-conviction this instant appeal was timely noticed. (Notice of appeal, c.p. 144).

enforcement.

.

THESE CLAIMS WERE TIME BARKED AND NUT WITHIN AN EXCEPTION.

DEFENDANT WAS REPRESENTED BY CONSTITUTIONALLY EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

.

EXCEPTION.

At the trial court level counsel claimed defendant was incompetent and could not have knowing and voluntarily pleaded guilty. The petition was supported with hundreds of pages of documentation.

Now on appeal counsel claims the mental competency of defendant tolls the statute of limitations.

Such is not the law.

The trial court denied the petition as being time barred and not within an exception pursuant to *Miss. Code Ann.* § 99-39-5. (C.p. 619-20).

The first hurdle defendant must overcome is the statutory time-bar to postconviction relief. Looking at the time line it is clearly outside the limits. The trial court was correct in denying the petition for post-conviction relief as time barred.

Without waiving the procedural bar to review the State would also point out there is no merit to the claim of incompetency in either fact or law.

Most obvious is the fact that defendant (at request of his two trial counsel) did have a competency hearing. Further, in the transcript defendant answered he was competent and both of his counsel signed a certificated stating defendant was physically and mentally competent to plead guilty. (C.p.122). Twice within the plea was not voluntarily and intelligently made. A guilty plea is binding upon a defendant only when it is voluntarily and intelligently entered. Alexander v. State, 605 So.2d 1170, 1172 (Miss.1992) (citing Myers v. State, 583 So.2d 174, 177 (Miss.1991)). In Reeder v. State, 783 So.2d 711, 717(¶ 20) (Miss.2001),

Cross v. State, 954 So.2d 497 (Miss.App. 2007)(alleged mental illness made her incompetent to plead guilty).

And, in a similar case when looking to the merits the Court held:

¶ 11. While discussing Nichols's competency to enter his guilty pleas, the lower court noted in its denial of Nichols's motion for post-conviction relief, as we did above, that Nichols was questioned regarding his level of understanding of the proceedings and consequences of his guilty plea. This was buttressed with Nichols's attorney's statement regarding Nichols's ability to understand the proceedings. Also, the sentencing court noted, in finding that Nichols had entered his guilty pleas knowingly and voluntarily, that it had the opportunity to observe Nichols during the two-day trial on the aggravated assault cause. While Rule 9.06 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice require the court to hold a competency hearing if it determines that reasonable grounds exist for such, we find from a thorough reading of the record that reasonable grounds did not exist. We cannot say that the lower court was clearly erroneous in his findings, and, therefore, this issue is without merit.

Nichols v. State, 955 So.2d 962 (Miss.App. 2007).

As the Mississippi Supreme Court has oft held: "... there was no dispute that

the defendant had been treated for various mental disorders but that "one suffering

from mental illness may be rational and competent to stand trial."" Richardson v.

barred and not within an exception; and, 2) Alternatively, this issue is without merit as defendant was examined, found to be competent at the time of his guilty plea.

No relief should be granted on this first allegation of trial court error.

Again this claim, was raised in the petition for post-conviction relief and denied relief as being time barred.

¶ 11. We are cognizant of the fact that the Mississippi Supreme Court has acknowledged that section 99-39-5(2) might be overcome in another manner. "Our supreme court has held that the three-year statute of limitations may be waived when a fundamental constitutional right is implicated." McGleachie v. State, 840 So.2d 108, 110(¶ 12) (Miss.Ct.App.2002) (citing Sneed v. State, 722 So.2d 1255, 1257(¶11) (Miss. 1998)). We clearly realize that the right to competent counsel is a fundamental constitutional right. However, the Mississippi Supreme Court has never held that merely raising a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is sufficient to surmount the time bar of section 99-39-5(2). Bevill v. State, 669 So.2d 14, 17 (Miss.1996). Accordingly, we decline to hold, without substantial and specific supporting facts, that Chancy's assertion that his counsel's ineffective assistance prompted his guilty plea is enough to operate as a waiver of the three-year statute of limitations. Finally, we note that the Mississippi Supreme Court has consistently held that the time bar of Mississippi Code Annotated section 99-39-5(2) applies to petitioners's post-conviction relief claims based on ineffective assistance of counsel and involuntariness of guilty pleas. Kirk v. State, 798 So.2d 345, 346(¶ 6) (Miss.2000) (citing Luckett v. State, 582 So.2d 428, 429-30 (Miss.1991)). In light of established Mississippi law, we find that all of Chancy's issues are time-barred, including his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel and the involuntariness of his plea.

Chancy v. State, 938 So.2d 267 (Miss.App. 2005).

Claims of ineffective assistance are time barred. Without waiving the

procedural bar to review it is clear this claim is also without merit.

competency as a defense. The were also successful in getting a plea for a lesser charge and had witnesses available at the sentencing for mitigation. This was, Constitutionally effective assistance of counsel.

If this issue were not procedurally barred in would, alternatively, be without merit in fact. No relief should be granted on this claim of error.

appeal the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the trial court denial of postconviction relief.

Respectfully submitted,

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY:

JEFF/RE/Y/A. KLINGFUSS // SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NEW CONSTRUCTION

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680 Mississippi, do hereby certify that I have this day mailed, postage prepaid, a true and correct copy of the above and foregoing **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE** to the following:

Honorable Forrest A. Johnson Circuit Court Judge Post Office Box 1372 Natchez, MS 39121

Honorable Ronnie Harper District Attorney Post Office Box 1148 Natchez, MS 39121

Cynthia A. Stewart, Esquire Attorney At Law 2088 Main Street, Suite A Madison, MS 39110

This the 31st day of January, 2008.

JEFFREN A KLINGFUSS/ / SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680